1989

# John W. Jarman and Helene B. Jarman v. Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals for the State of Utah is appropriate pursuant to Rule 4A of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a judgment and order entered in the Third Judicial District Court of Summit County, State of Utah, the Honorable Michael R. Murphy, judge presiding, following a trial without a jury on September 9, 1988. The court determined that a lease agreement between the respective parties herein, for outdoor advertising purposes, was no longer in effect and that the defendant/appellant, Reagan Outdoor Advertising (hereinafter "Reagan"), was therefore trespassing on the plaintiffs'/appellees', John W. and Helene B. Jarman (hereinafter "Jarmans"), property.

In addition, this appeal is taken from the trial court's denial of Reagan's motion to amend the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered after the trial.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in refusing to amend its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to more accurately reflect the evidence presented during the trial?

2. Did the trial court err in finding that the outdoor advertising lease agreement, previously executed between the

parties, was ambiguous with regard to the extent of Reagan's leasehold?

3. If the trial court did not err in finding the extent of Reagan's leasehold ambiguous, did it nevertheless err in finding that Reagan's leasehold only extended to that portion of Jarmans' property upon which the outdoor advertising structures stood at the time the most recent lease agreement was executed?

4. Did the trial court err in finding that the defendant was in trespass of Jarmans' property and in ordering the removal of Reagan's outdoor advertising structures?

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,  
ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS**

None.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In 1971, Mr. Richard Paxman, representing Galaxy Outdoor Advertising, Reagan's predecessor in interest (R. 47), contacted the owners of the Hi-Ute Ranch in Summit County, Jarmans' predecessors in interest (R. 76), to negotiate a lease of the Hi-Ute property in order to emplace two outdoor advertising structures (R. 41). Ultimately, an agreement was reached and two separate lease documents (the "1971 leases") were executed (R. 44 and 45).

Subsequently, two outdoor advertising structures were built on locations adjacent to State Highway 224 picked out by Mr.

Paxman (R. 42). These same structures were on location at the time the Jarmans purchased the property, which contains some 130 acres (sometime in 1980); and, they were aware of their existence, having seen the signs before they purchased the property. Mr. Jarman eventually contacted Galaxy Outdoor to advise them of the change in ownership (R. 209-10, 11).

In 1981, Mr. Terry K. Reid, representing Reagan, entered into discussions with Mr. Jarman to renew the lease agreement for the structures (R. 47). In 1982, the leasehold was renewed with the execution of a lease document (the "1982 lease") (R. 86) to replace the two previous documents. The 1982 lease agreement has become the subject of the instant action.

The description of the property being leased from the Jarmans, pursuant to the 1982 lease, incorporated those descriptions found on the 1971 leases (R. 48). No address for, or better description of, the premises existed at the time the 1971 leases were prepared so a general description of the proposed locations where the structures would be emplaced was used (R. 42). Such a method was a common means of identifying properties without addresses at that time (R. 209-37). There is no address for the property even now; it is generally referred to as Kimball Junction (R. 74). Likewise, there was no specific, or exact, description of the location of the structures, only a general description, approximately identified by using monuments (R. 209-14, 15, 25, 28, 37).

It was the Jarmans' intention to allow Reagan to have two outdoor advertising sign locations next to State Highway 224 (R. 209-29).

Reagan continued to use the leasehold premises and to pay the agreed rental to the Jarmans for the locations from the execution of the 1982 lease to that point in time where the Jarmans refused to accept payment and initiated the instant action (R. 48).

In 1987, the State of Utah began the widening of State Highway 224 in the vicinity of Kimball Junction after acquiring from the Jarmans a right-of-way of approximately 10 to 30 feet (R. 209-16). (The precise amount was never revealed during the trial.) The newly acquired State right-of-way took a portion of the Jarman property upon which the outdoor advertising structures were located (R. 209-41, 42). However, neither structure was completely located within the new right-of-way (R. 209-17, 41).

The State, through Mr. Dear Holbrook, made a request to Reagan to have the structures moved off the right-of-way (R. 209-39). Reagan did move the signs; moving them just far enough away from the highway so that they would no longer be in the State's right-of-way and to be completely located on the property of the Jarmans' (R. 49).

The original description of the location of the structures as found in the 1971 and 1982 leases still describes their location (R. 42, 49). Mr. Jarman admitted during the trial that this is indeed the situation (R. 209-26, 27).

Reagan was paid by the State to relocate, not remove the structures (R. 209-67, 68).

The Jarmans took the position that the 1982 lease only allowed Reagan to maintain the two outdoor advertising structures in the exact locations that these structures occupied when the lease was then renewed. They contended that moving the structures, even the few feet that they were, in fact, moved, constituted a trespass. In their Complaint, filed December 10, 1987, they sought removal of the structures and monetary damages. The claim for money damages was withdrawn at the time of trial (R. 209-3).

Prior to trial Reagan made a motion for the entry of a Summary Judgment in its favor. This motion was denied. Trial was thereafter held in Summit County, the Honorable Judge Michael R. Murphy presiding, on September 9, 1988. The Court entered a judgment in favor of the Jarmans, ordering the structures removed and awarding the Jarmans their costs.

The Court also made and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in which it determined that the 1982 lease was ambiguous and Reagan was in trespass. Reagan made a motion to amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law; specifically directing the motion to specific Findings and Conclusions (R. 111), and identifying the discrepancies that needed correcting. This motion was summarily denied. Reagan thereafter appealed to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 1982 outdoor advertising lease agreement is a renewal of the original 1971 lease agreements executed by the respective predecessors in interest of the current parties. The extent of Reagan's leasehold interest is clearly defined within the four corners of the instrument. In this respect the lease is not ambiguous. Reagan was entitled to move its structures, within, at least, the same general area that they were originally emplaced, to accommodate the widening of State Highway 224, without suffering a loss of said leasehold. The trial court erred in determining the lease ambiguous in this regard and in ordering the removal of the structures.

The evidence presented during the trial clearly established the intent, and understanding, of the parties with regard to the extent of the leasehold. This evidence flies in the face of the trial court's ruling. In this respect the trial court committed clear error. Reagan is not in trespass of Jarmans' property and is entitled to remain thereon.

The trial court's Findings of Fact, and Conclusions of Law, are not fully reflective of the evidence presented, nor are they completely accurate. It was error for the trial court to not amend the Findings and Conclusions, as requested by Reagan, to render them more accurate and complete. Corrected Findings and Conclusions will not be supportive of the trial court's judgment.

The true reason for the court's ruling was revealed by the Court after the trial. The basis for its decision, it seems, was

for reasons other than the evidence presented, and the issues before it. In this respect, as well, the trial court committed clear error in reaching a decision favorable to the Jarmans.

## ARGUMENT

### I

#### Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Should Have Been Granted

Following the trial and the entry of the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Reagan filed its motion to amend. The Findings (and Conclusions) being challenged were specifically set forth along with the basis therefore (R. 111). Reagan made reference to the evidence presented during the trial in support of each point. Despite this, and a clear basis existing to justify making the proposed amendments the trial court denied the motion in its entirety (R. 131). The Court explained, in making the ruling, that "I didn't see anything different . . ." (R. 209-103, 105).

Findings nos. 2 and 3 state that the 1982 lease agreement was for "specific locations" or "specific sites" (R. 104). And, this is what the trial court stated following the trial (R. 209-98). But this is not in harmony with the facts in evidence. 1) Mr. Paxman testified that a property address would have been used to describing the leasehold, rather than a landmark (or monument),

had the property had an address (R. 209-37). 2) The leasehold description as set forth in the 1982 lease is a general description: "State Hwy 224 across from state Hwy sheds s/o Kimball Jct & State Hwy 224 300' s/o State Hwy shed, s/o Kimball Jct" (R. 86). 3) The leasehold interest allowed Reagan to utilize a "remaining portion" of the property should it be necessary to move the structures to accommodate property building and development (R. 86). 4) The possibility of relocating the structures was discussed by the parties during the negotiations that resulted in the 1982 lease renewal (R. 209-58, 59). These Findings are key points in resolving the case. In light of the evidence presented amending these Findings to provide that the leasehold allowed Reagan to maintain its structures in the general vicinity of the landmarks or "monuments" described is appropriate.

It was (and is) the Jarmans' position that the Reagan leasehold only extended to their property upon which the structures were exactly located when the 1982 lease was executed. This is reflected in Finding no. 4. Yet, Mr. Jarman did not know, even at the time of trial, just where the signs were originally located (R. 209-14, 15, 28), how much of his property the State of Utah acquired (R. 209-16, 17), and where the signs were moved to (R. 209-17,); except that they were still within the leasehold description.

Finding no. 4 goes on to state that it was the parties' intention to continue the leasehold for the existing locations

only. But testimony given during the trial clearly shows that the parties had discussions concerning the possible relocation of the signs (R. 209-54) and, Mr. Jarman stated that he never told Reagan that he wanted the lease to apply only to the specific piece of property that the structures then occupied (R. 209-25). In fact, Mr. Jarman testified that it was his intention to allow Reagan to have two signs next to the State highway (R. 209-29)! It is clear error for the trial court not to amend Finding no. 4 to state that even if it was Mr. Jarman's intent to so limit the leasehold that this was never communicated to Reagan, that he did intend for Reagan to have two signs next to the highway, and that there were discussions regarding the possibility of relocating the structures.

For the purpose of this Appeal Reagan asks that the Court look specifically at but two other points with regard to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law: Findings nos. 5 and 8. In its Finding no. 5 the trial court found that the lease was ambiguous; at lease insofar as it related to the property description (R. 209-97). The appellant will discuss this point in detail in the argument below.

Finding no. 8 states that Reagan moved the structures, or "billboards," from the locations they occupied to other locations on Jarman's property. The implication from this is that the structures were moved to a completely different portion of the Jarman property; to an area that the Jarman's never contemplated would be used for outdoor advertising purposes. (Which is, of

course, what the Jarmans wanted the trial court to think.) From the evidence presented during the trial this is clearly not the case. Only a portion of the structures were moved; just enough to remove them from the State's new right-of-way. In fact, the structures are not only still within the property description that Jarman first observed them at when he purchased the property, but Mr. Jarman admitted at trial that this is the case (R. 209-26, 27). It was clear error for the trial court not to amend Finding no. 8 to state that the structures were only partially relocated.

The trial court's Findings of Fact (and the Conclusions of Law they support) go against the clear weight of evidence presented during the trial of the instant case and are, therefore, clearly erroneous. In this regard they should be set aside. Rule 52 (a) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. See also Sampson v. Richins, 102 Utah Adv. Rep. 53, 55 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) and General Glass Corp. v. Mast Construction Co., 766 P.2d 429, 98 UAR 53, 57 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). This Court should set them aside and remand the case for the entry of amended Findings that are supported by the evidence.

The Conclusions of Law should be reviewed under the "correction of error" standard identified in the case of Bailey v. Call, 767 P.2d 138, 100 UAR 11 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), and be corrected to conform to the evidence presented.

## II

### The 1982 Lease Agreement is Not Ambiguous

The extent of Reagan's outdoor advertising leasehold can be resolved from the four corners of the 1982 lease document without the need to resort to extrinsic evidence. The pertinent terms and provisions are contained therein allowing the Court to determine, as a matter of law, the rights and liabilities of respective parties.

The 1982 lease agreement states, in pertinent part:

. . . The lessor does hereby grant and convey to the lessee and its assigns and successors, the exclusive right to use the following described property for the purpose of erecting and maintaining thereon outdoor advertising structures . . . as may be desired by lessee for a term of ten years . . . located in the county of Summit, State of Utah and more particularly described as follows: State Hwy 224 across from state Hwy sheds s/o Kimball Jct. & State Hwy 224 300' s/o State Hwy shed, s/o Kimball Jct. . .

. . . Lessor shall have the right to terminate this lease . . . if : (a) Lessor builds or develops on the property where the sign(s) structure(s) is situated; or (b) In the event Lessor sells the premises, the buyer of said premises has the right to terminate this lease . . . Lessee will remove its sign(s) . . . If any portion of the property is not utilized for such buildings, Lessee has the option to use the remaining portion on the same terms. . . (emphasis added).

From the stated provisions it is clear that the Jarmans gave to Reagan the right to both erect and maintain outdoor advertising structures on their property in Summit County at two locations along State Highway 224 for a term of ten years. One location

was across from the State's highway sheds; the other was 300 feet south of the sheds.

There is no other limitation embodied in the document with regard to the locations of the structures. There is no other reasonable interpretation that can be given the agreement. The lease agreement must be enforced in accordance with the intentions manifest by the language used by the parties. Ephraim Theatre Company v. Hawk, 321 P.2d 221, 223 (Utah 1958). To do otherwise would be to allow the courts to add some term, or terms, to the agreement that the parties could, had they wanted to, put in the agreement themselves. Both appellate courts in Utah have made it clear that they will not inject ambiguity into a contract where no exists in order to save a party from what, in retrospect, seems an ill-advised agreement. Crowther v. Carter, 767 P.2d 138, 99 UAR 29, 31 (Utah Ct. App. 1989); Dalton v. Jerico Const. Co., 642 P.2d 748 (Utah 1982). Six years after entering into the lease agreement with Reagan the Jarmans may have changed their minds with regard to allowing the leasehold, but that does not excuse them from holding to the original agreement.

The lease agreement further provides that the structures may be relocated on Jarmans' remaining property should the signs need be removed because of building and development, or in the event of sale. If, as the Jarmans claim, there was no right to relocate the structures anywhere because the leasehold was limited exclusively to the locations the structures occupied at

the time the 1982 lease was executed then this clause was unnecessary and should have been stricken.

The language used in an agreement is ambiguous only if the words used to express the meaning and intention of the parties are insufficient in a sense that the contract may be understood to reach two or more plausible meanings. American Bonding Co. v. Nelson, 763 P.2d 814, 94 UAR 42, 43-44 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). There is no other plausible meaning!

The interpretation of this lease agreement can be determined by the words of the agreement and is, therefore, not ambiguous. The intent of the parties can be culled from the terms found within the lease.

The interpretation of this lease agreement is a question of law. Copper State Leasing v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture, 90 Utah Adv. Rep. 23, 24 (Sup. Ct. 1988). Because the lease agreement is not ambiguous this Court need not give the trial court's ruling any particular weight, but review it for correctness. Cecala v. Thorley, 764 P.2d 643, 96 UAR 15, 16 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). See also, Heller v. U.S. Rock Wool Co., 762 P.2d 1104, 93 UAR 8, 9 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) and Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985). It is clear from the foregoing that the ruling of the trial court was not correct and needs be overturned.

### III

Even If The Trial Court Did Not Err In Ruling  
That The 1982 Outdoor Advertising Lease Was Ambiguous  
It Was Error To Find That The Leasehold Was Limited  
To The Exact Locations That The Signs Occupied At The  
Time This Lease Was Executed

It is well settled that the standard of review of a trial court's ruling on a contract found to be ambiguous is that this Court must find that ruling "clearly erroneous." Bailey v. Call, supra., Crowther v. Carter, supra., Power Systems & Controls v. Keith's Electrical Constr. Co, 765 P.2d 5, 97 UAR 34 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). But, as discussed above, it is improper for a court to inject ambiguity in order to "save" a party. Crowther, supra., at 99 UAR p. 31.

Nevertheless, if the 1982 lease agreement is ambiguous the extrinsic evidence presented during the trial of the instant case was more than sufficient to establish that Reagan had the right to relocate its structures in the vicinity of their original locations without a loss of the leasehold and without being in trespass of the Jarman property.

Much of the evidence supporting the above position, extracted from the record (mainly the record made during the trial) has already been stated above. These facts, in review, are: 1) The 1982 lease agreement allows Reagan to relocate its signs; 2) no exact description for the location of the Reagan structures was affixed to the 1971 leases and no attempt fix their exact locations was made at the time the 1982 lease was executed; 3)

the description of the property being leased still matches the description of the structures' locations after the relocation; 4) Mr. Jarman agrees that this is, in fact, the situation, that the structures are still located according to the property description; 5) it was the Jarmans' intention to allow Reagan to have two signs next to State Highway 224; 6) Reagan was paid by the State to relocate, not remove, the structures; 7) no amendment to, or deletion of, the 1982 lease agreement was accomplished to otherwise limit Reagan's ability to relocate the structures or to evidence that the Jarmans did not intend that Reagan should be limited to only those exact locations that the structures then occupied; 8) the Jarmans still own the property the Reagan structures are located upon; 9) Reagan never understood that it was strictly limited with regard to the location of its signs; 10) only a portion of the sign structures were in the new State right-of-way and only a partial relocation of the structures was accomplished in any event.

Only the mere statement by Mr. Jarman that he "intended" the lease to be limited to sign locations of 1982 stands in opposition to the above. This statement is not supported by any other evidence and is directly controverted by Reagan and the 1982 lease document. If nothing else the Jarmans have failed to carry the burden of proof required of them in a case of this nature.

The Appellant has met its burden and shown that the ruling of the trial court goes against the "clear weight of evidence,"

and is "clearly erroneous." Monroc, Inc. v. Sidwell, 104 Utah Adv. Rep. 26, 27 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). The evidence presented during the trial is insufficient to support the finding made. General Glass Corp., supra., 98 UAR at p. 55.

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