1989

John W. Jarman and Helene B. Jarman v. Reagan Outdoor Advertising Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The 1982 lease agreement is ambiguous. The description of the leasehold, drafted by Reagan, can only be understood through the examination of extrinsic evidence.

The trial court examined extrinsic evidence, presented by both parties, and determined that the leasehold was limited to the specific location occupied by Reagan's billboards at the time the 1982 Lease was executed. The evidence presented was more than sufficient to allow the Court to reach that conclusion. No error was committed by the trial court.

The trial court's findings of fact were sufficiently based upon the evidence presented at trial. Reagan has failed to meet its burden in showing that the trial judge committed clear error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE REAGAN LEASE IS AMBIGUOUS

The lease entered into by the Jarmans and Reagan was drafted by Reagan. The description of the leasehold, contained therein, was also drafted by Reagan. (R. 209, pp. 18, 30) The leasehold description states:

. . . in the County of Summit, State of Utah
and more particularly described as follows:
State Hwy. 224 across from State Hwy. sheds
s/o Kimball Jct. & State Hwy. 224 300' s/o
State Hwy. shed, s/o Kimball Jct.

Because the signs were already in place when the Jarmans purchased the property (R. 209, p. 10) and because, during negotiation of the lease, Reagan did not indicate that it believed the leasehold included property not already occupied by the signs (R. 209, p. 13), the Jarmans reasonably understood

the leasehold description to include only that portion of the property actually occupied by the signs (R. 209, p. 12)

Reagan, on the other hand, has contended that the lease allowed it to utilize any other portion of the Jarmans' property in the event the portion occupied by the signs should be sold or developed. Reagan relies for this contention upon a clause in the lease which purports to define the specific events under which the lessor may terminate the lease. That clause reads:

Lessor shall have the right to terminate this lease at any time during the term of this lease if: (a) Lessor builds or develops the property where the sign(s) structure(s) is situated; or (b) in the event Lessor sells the premises, the buyer of said premise has the right to terminate this lease within thirty (30) days immediately following recordation of deed of sale, if buyer gives lessee written notice of termination. Lessee will remove its sign(s) within thirty (30) days after receiving a written copy of the deed or valid building permit together with prepaid unearned rent. If any portion of the property is not utilized for such buildings, Lessee has the option to use the remaining portion on the same terms.

That language is ambiguous. It states that the "[l]essor shall have the right to terminate [the] lease . . . if:" and follows up the "if:" with part "(a)" and part "(b)." Part "(a)" arguably provides that the lessor may terminate the lease in the event the lessor develops the property where the billboards are located. Part "(b)" arguably provides that the eventual purchaser of the property may terminate the lease upon thirty

(30) days written notice within thirty (30) days after recordation of the deed of sale. It was Reagan's position at trial, and continues to be Reagan's position that what parts "(a)" and "(b)" give, the last sentence of the clause, apparently included under part "(b)," takes away. That sentence uses the term, "such buildings" but part "(b)" addresses sale of the land, not development. Even the portion of part "(b)" which appears to rather clearly grant a purchaser of the property a right to terminate is apparently not clear; at least not to Reagan. At trial, Reagan's vice president, Terry Reid, testified that part "(b)" only "gives the lessor a right to grant to a purchaser the right to terminate. (R. 209, p. 62). Reagan's lease is so written that it is subject to numerous contradicting interpretations. Without examination of extrinsic evidence the meaning of the Reagan lease, like beauty, is in the eyes of the beholder.

Language is considered ambiguous if the words used to express the meaning and intention of the parties are insufficient in a sense that the contract may be understood to reach two or more plausible meanings.

American Bonding Co. v. Nelson, 763 P.2d 814, 816 (Utah App. 1988).

Contrary to Reagan's conclusion, two or more meanings are plausible from the language of the lease. The leasehold description provides that one sign would be located "300' s/o State Hwy. shed. . . ." The 300' distance was only an

approximation; the actual distance never having been measured.
(R. 209, p. 39) Mr. Jarman, applying the same method of
approximation, judged that distance to be 1,000 feet or more.
(R. 209, p. 16)

Reagan never obtained a metes and bounds measurement
to more closely define its leasehold nor did it ask Mr. Jarman
to provide one. (R. 209, pp. 37, 16) Without the actual
physical presence of the signs to define the extent of the
leasehold, the leasehold description is simply too ambiguous to
define Reagan's rights in the Jarmans' property without
examining extrinsic evidence.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT WAS BASED ON A PROPER AND
ACCURATE ASSESSMENT OF THE FACTS PRESENTED AT TRIAL.

The Reagan lease agreement is ambiguous. This Court
has stated that:

. . . when a contract is ambiguous because
of uncertainty or incompleteness concerning
the parties' rights and duties under the
contract, extrinsic evidence is permissible
to ascertain the parties' intent.

Power Sys. & Controls v. Keith's Elec., 765 P.2d 5, 9 (Utah
App. 1988). The trial court examined the extrinsic evidence
presented by both parties and, weighing that evidence, entered
judgment in the Jarmans' favor. This Court has articulated a
standard granting significant deference to the trial court's
factual assessment.

On appeal of a judgment from the bench after trial, we defer to the trial court's factual assessment unless there is clear error.

Copper State Leasing v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture, 770 P.2d 88, (Utah App. 1988).

The trial court's determination was supported by the facts presented by both parties. In its brief, Reagan argues that the extrinsic evidence presented at trial was "more than sufficient to establish that Reagan had the right to relocate its structures. . . ." This assertion, even if true, is irrelevant. The question is not whether the court could have found for Reagan had it credited Reagan's evidence, but rather whether there was an evidentiary basis for finding for the Jarmans.

Even when Reagan attempts to marshall the evidence which could have supported a judgment in its favor, it points to facts which actually support the judgment as entered. For example, the second "fact" upon which Reagan relies is that "no exact description for the location of the Reagan structures was affixed to the 1971 leases and no attempt to fix their exact locations was made at the time the 1982 lease was executed." (Appellant's brief at p.14). This statement is as much as an admission by Reagan that the agreement's leasehold description is ambiguous and does not adequately define the exact location of the billboards. It also ignores testimony by Reagan's own agent that the property description was written into the 1971

leases before the signs were erected and that the eventual erection of the signs then defined their precise location. (R. 209, pp. 47, 48).

Reagan also states that Mr. Jarman admitted that the leasehold description contained in the 1982 lease agreement still describes the present location of the signs. Reagan makes this assertion twice in its brief, neither time citing to the record or any other authority. However, Mr. Jarman's testimony, which apparently was believed by the trial court, was just the opposite. (R. 209, pp. 26, 27).

Reagan's other contentions do not support reversal of the judgment. The assertion that it was Mr. Jarman's intention to allow Reagan to maintain two billboards on his property, while true, adds no weight to Reagan's argument. The two signs which Mr. Jarman intended to allow Reagan to maintain were the two signs already in place when the 1982 agreement was entered into. (R. 209, p. 12). He intended that they would remain precisely where they were. (R. 209, pp. 12, 28, 29).

The fact that the state paid Reagan to "relocate, not remove," the structures is irrelevant. The state was not a party to the lease agreement nor could the state authorize Reagan's trespass to the Jarmans' property.

Reagan suggests that it "never understood that it was strictly limited with regard to the location of its signs." Reagan presented testimony to that effect which was properly considered and weighed by the court.

Finally, Reagan argues that only a portion of each sign was relocated. The trial court correctly ruled that the relocation, to the extent it took place, constituted a trespass. The defendant presents no authority for the proposition that this ruling is erroneous. In short, instead of detailing why the Court's findings were not supported by the evidence, as is the appellant's burden, Reagan simply reargues his case and requests that this Court substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. That is not the function of an appellate court.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SUPPORT ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ITS JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE JARMANS.

Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part that:

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

The Reagan contract is ambiguous. The trial court found facts regarding the parties' intentions from evidence extrinsic to the contract itself. "Those findings may not be set aside on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)." Crowther v. Carter, 767 P.2d 129, 131 (Utah App. 1989).

The trial court's findings are supported by competent and sufficient evidence and conform to that evidence. Under these circumstances, the appellate court must regard those findings as sufficient. Sampson v. Richins, 770 P.2d 998 (Utah App. 1989).

Reagan argues that the trial court should have amended its findings because Reagan, in its motion, pointed to evidence which was contrary to the court's findings. Reagan, in essence, argues that the trial court should have amended its findings, not because they lacked evidentiary support, but merely because Reagan had presented certain conflicting evidence which the court had not addressed in its findings.

A trial court need not resolve every conflicting evidentiary issue, "[n]or is the court required to negate allegations in its findings of fact."

Sampson, supra at 56, quoting Sorenson v. Beers, 614 P.2d 159, 160 (Utah 1980).

In bringing its Motion to Amend before the trial court and its appeal before this Court, Reagan simply has not met its burden in attacking the trial court's findings. Reagan must do much more than simply show the existence of conflicting evidence. In General Glass Corp. v. Mast Const. Co., 766 P.2d 429 (Utah App. 1988), a case cited in Reagan's brief, this Court repeated what it has "said on numerous occasions;" that:

in order to challenge a finding of fact, it is appellant's burden to marshal all the evidence that supports the court's finding

and then demonstrate why even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, it is insufficient to support the finding made.

Id. at 433. Reagan has fallen far short of meeting this burden. It addresses virtually none of the evidence supporting the trial court's findings. It would, in fact, have this Court believe that the only evidence in opposition to the "facts" supporting Reagan's position is "the mere statement by Mr. Jarman that he 'intended' the lease to be limited to sign locations of 1982. . . ." (Reagan's Brief, p. 15). Reagan's insinuation is that Mr. Jarman's testimony was untrustworthy. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) recognizes the trial court's superior opportunity to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

Reagan specifically challenges the trial court's findings of fact numbers 2, 3, 4, 5 and 8. Evidence was presented at trial to support each of those findings.

The trial court found that the lease describes two specific locations upon which Reagan was authorized to locate two billboards. The court had sufficient evidence upon which to base that finding. It is, first of all, uncontroverted that the billboards were already in place when the Jarmans purchased the property and later entered into the lease agreement with Reagan. (R. 209, p. 10, 14, 39, 48, 52). At the time the lease was negotiated there was no discussion concerning the extent of the leasehold. (R. 209, p.12). Mr. Jarman did not feel there was a need to discuss the extent of the leasehold

which he felt was defined by the actual placement of the billboards. (R. 209, p.12). Mr. Richard Paxman, Jarmans' representative, testified that once the billboards were erected, their locations were defined. (R. 209, p.47, 48).

The trial court also found that the 1971 leases between Galaxy and Swindle each authorized the placement of one billboard on a specific site -- "the site occupied by the billboards at the time the lease between the plaintiffs and defendant was signed." The testimony discussed above, and particularly Mr. Paxman's testimony, supports this finding.

The trial court provides its own evidentiary support for its next finding, which states:

Based upon the property description in the February 1982 Lease, the fact that the billboards were in place at the time the Lease was signed, and based upon the testimony of Mr. Jarman that he intended to lease defendant only the property upon which the billboards were situated, the Court finds that the parties intended the Lease to continue the right of defendant to maintain the billboards in their existing locations.

Reagan also challenges the trial court's finding that the 1982 Lease is ambiguous and subject to the introduction and consideration of parol evidence to aid in its interpretation. The correctness of this finding is discussed in part I of respondents' argument, above.

The only other finding challenged by Reagan in this appeal is the court's finding that:

Defendant removed the billboards from the locations they occupied upon the execution of the 1982 Lease then moved them to other locations on plaintiff's property without the knowledge or consent of the plaintiffs.

Reagan implies in its brief that the court believed Reagan moved the billboards to a significantly different portion of the Jarmans' 103 acre property and that the signs were moved in their entirety. That clearly was not the trial court's understanding. The court heard Mr. Paxman's testimony of exactly how the billboards were relocated and that one beam of each remained in place on Reagan's leasehold. (R. 209, pp. 41-44). The one critical fact remains; that Reagan, without notice to the Jarmans or their consent (R. 209, pp. 19, 32), moved the billboards onto a portion of the Jarmans' property not contemplated under the terms of the agreement reached by the parties. That action constituted a trespass as much as if Reagan had moved each billboard a mile.

Each of the trial court's findings are supported by the evidence and judgment entered below should be affirmed by this court.

CONCLUSION

If Reagan's appeal of the trial court's judgment has merit, it has failed to show where that merit lies. Instead of addressing the evidence relied upon by the trial court in reaching its decision, and demonstrating why that evidence was

insufficient to support the trial court's findings, Reagan has simply reargued to this Court the case which it argued below. As much as Reagan might desire to have its appeal proceed as a trial de novo, it is this Court's duty only to determine whether the trial court's judgment was clearly erroneous. Reagan has failed to show that the trial court committed any error. The Jarmans have, on the other hand, shown that each of the trial court's findings which are disputed by Reagan are supported by the evidence. This Court should, therefore, rule in favor of the respondents by affirming the trial court's findings and judgment.